EARLHAM OBSERVATORY.

Founded 1861.



History of the Earlham Observatory.

gources of informatien consulted.

miinutes of the Yearly Meeting."

"Minutes of the Board of Trustees."”

The "American Friend."

The "Rarlhamite.”

The "Congressienal Record." i
The following persons were consulted either by letter
or in persen:

Mrs., William B, Mergan

Bli Jay

Allan Jay

Walter Carpenter

Prof. Erastur Test

Prof. R. L. Sackett.



THE EARLHAM OBSERVATORY.
Latitude 39 degrees 51 seconds.

Longitude 5 hr,, 49 min., 37 sec.

Most people hardly notice the small brick building sit-
nated a few yards north-west of the north entrance to Lindley
‘Hall. Phe bullding is a very modest ome, being avout 40 feet
long 15 feet wide and 19 feet high. In the center of the
roof is a dome, This dome is mounted on rollers and can be
turned around by hand., The equipment consists of a six-inch,
achromatic telescope equiterially mounted, a transit, a sex-
tant and an astronomical cleck. Only abeut 81,200 was expen-
ded for the building and equipment. Yet modest as the Obser-
vatory 1s, it is am enduring monument te the moble selfsac—
rifice and educational enthusiasm of its founders. The rais-
ing of a few hundred dollars then, meant as much as the rais-
ing of as many thousands now, It was largely thfough the
work of Prof, William B. Mergan, that by much effort the
necessary amount was raised.

In the report of the Bearding Scheol, found in the
Yearly Meeting Minutes for 1856, occurs the following: "Also
the large telescope alluded to in our last report, has been
purchased by the subscription of our junior members, and is
now the property of the institution at a cost of %$630." The
telescope referred te had a six-inch objective carried in a
wooden tube. It was purchased of R, B. Rutherford by William

Houghton, an early teacher and officer of the school. R. B.
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Rutherford was a prominent eastern astronomer and at this
time was equipping himself with larger instruments. Prof.
Erastus Test states that he has vivid recollections of the
effort 1t teook to ralse the money necassary for the purchase.

At this time none of the scheols or colleges of Indiana
were in possession of a telescope which «Qiﬂd at all with
the one &t Barlham. There were probably net more than one or
two others in the Middle West. One of these was at Western
Reserve University at Cleveland. It is claimed that the ob-
servatory at Western Reserve University is the oldest on this
side of the Alleghenies.

The telescope was not permanently mounted at this time
but was meunted on a triped when in use. The telescope was
probably kept at this time, in the Lecture Room in Earlham
Hall., Por in the reports of the Beard of Trustees, fTor
seventh month, 29, 1856, may be Tound the following recom-
mendation: "We alse think that a cupboard and glass cases at
ome end of the Lecture room, should be fitted up te receive
the new apparatus and the telescope, so that these articles
may not be lost or destreyed for want of proper care.”

In order that the telescope might be used to advantage,
it was necessary that a suitable building be constructed and
that it be properly meunted. There was in existence at that
time & seciaety of the young people of the Yearly Meeting,
known as the Literary and Philesophical Institute.William
Morgan was president.

oppertunities for obtaining information and for culture
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were then very limited and the society was probably fermed
to help supply this need. There were many such secieties
which sprang up at this time. Little is known of the achieve-
ments of this one with such a pretentious name put it did
aceomplish one thing worthy of its efferts. One of its ob-
jects according te its comstitutien was teo aid the Boarding
Scheol. In 1859 this society eriginated a subscription and
plans for building an observatery. The cooperation eof the
Board of Trustees wWas askoq and the beard then empowered its
executive committee to take any necessary action in the
matter. The work of building the observatory was in charge of
Walter Carpenter who Was luporinftndont at that time and
acted for the executive committee in many matters. The build-
ing was begun in 1860, The scheol did net then pessess a
transit instrument or an astronemical eleck but both were
deemed indispensable to & therough course in practical as-
troneny, so plers of masonry for them were comstructed at the
game time. The building was not completed however until the
spring of 1861 and by thaf time beth tﬁo transit and the
elock had been precured. The cost of the observatery building
was abeut $200. Of this amount not mere than $135 was pald

by the Board eof rrustnil.

There is s stery that the transit was one which had been
used at Foert Sumpter. According to the stery, when Andersen
surrendered to the confederates, he was allowed to take along
with him, ameng other things the tramsit. This tramsit was

then sent to Barlham for safe keeping and afterwards allewed
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teo remain there. The story is interesting but brobably witheut
foundation in fact. If the transit was ever at Fort Sumpter

it had been taken away seme time before Andersen surrendered;
for in the executive committee's report for 3rd month, 6th,
1861, we find that the transit had already been received at
Barlham, Another fact which makes the whele story seem doubt-
ful is that both Eli Jay and Erastus Test have ‘he idea that
it was merely one that belonged te the government and was not
in use at that time; neither has ever heard that }t was ever
at Fort Sumpter,

All we do know is that the tramsit was leamed by the
United States government through Supt. Bache of the Coast
Survey and was to be returned when called for. An order for
its return was received during the early part of Cleveland's
Administration, but Pref. Sackett wrote to the secretary of
the Interior concerning the use that was being made of it and
showing that it was carefully cared for; and permission was
then given that it still remain at Barlham. It is likely that
it will never be called Tor, An anmmual report of the work
done with it is made to the Interior Department. The transit
has a four-inch aperture and at one time was worth perhaps
$1,000. The oniy cost to the college was $52.40, paid by the
executive committee for transportation and a few slight re-
pairs. The loan of the instrument was secured through the
efforts of Pref. Mergan.

The cleck is of German manufacture and of very fine con-

struction, It nas run for fifteen mIonths without lesing more
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than ferty-Tive seconds and it still does good werk. The
clock was purchased of a banker in Cincimmatti by Elijah
Ceffin, a prominent member of the Board of Trustees. The
cleck cost $126, which amount was paid by the Beard ef
Trustees. The cQ-poighon ror.chungoc of temperature is secur-
ed by means of a cylinder in the pendulum, filled with the
requisite amount of mercury. It is said that Elijan Coffin
carried this pendulum from Cincimmatti, in his hand to pre=
serve the compensation.

The Observatery possesses a chronometer which will serve
as well as & $150 te $200 machine. It was designed by Pref.
R. L. Sackett and constructed by J. H. Mote of the class of
'96.

In the winter of 1870 a scientific thief broke inte the
Observatory and stele the lenses from the Equaterial. He was
tracked in the smow as far as the Yatienal Read bdbut nething
further was ever heard of him. The lenses were replaced in
1872-3 by new ones made bLY Henry Fitz, a German optician, at
‘a cost of $400. At this time the wooden tube was replaced by
the present metal one, 8O that of the eriginal toloucipo only
the pedestal remains.

The Observatory nmow possesses a valuable sextant of the
type used by the British admiralty. This alse has an inter-
esting histery. In March 1885, Levi D. Johnsen salled with
Bishep Taylor's party, from Wew York. The expedition estab-
1ished missions on the west coast of Africa. This was really

a Methedist enterprise and Levi Johmson vwas & Methedist, but
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he went out as a Friend and received aid from the Friends.
His ultimate object seems te have bheen to establish an inde-
pendent Priend's Mission. Nelia Rees an Earlham student was
a member of the party. Meanwhile, in October 1884, the Earl-
ham College Missionary Seciety had been organized with a
membership of thirty, This society donated $96 to Levi 0.
Jotmson for the purpose of procuring a small telescope, a
baremeter, two nautical almanacs, a navigator and a sextant.
Levl Johnson remained in Africa and may have attempted to es-
tablish a Priend%s migsion. Any way the plan was not a suc-
¢ess and Levl Johnson rsturned home., The sextant was after-
wards returned to the college and has since remained there
as a permanant part of the equipment of the Observatory.
Thers is also a small telescope in the Observatory which may
be the one donated to Levi Johnson.

Astronomy was taught at Barlham in 1859 perhaps earlier,

and was afterwards a required study. The observatery gives
Earlham an equipment which even today is net found in most
colleges of its rank., Also the Observatory has been fortunate
in being in charge of exceptionally able directers. From its
founding until 1868 it was in charge of Prof. Morgan with the
exception of one year 1866 when Pref. EBrastus Test was di-
rector., From 1863 to 1878 Prof, William A, Meore was direc-
‘tor; from 1878- 1883 El1 Jay; from 1883 to 1891, William
Morgan was director, and since 1891 it has been in charge of
Robert L. Sackett,

Because of its interest I include the Tellowing from the
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minutes of the bhoard of Trustees: "Executive Com. Report,

3rd mo., 6th 1861, The observatory has been carried ferward
nearly to completion and it is intended te finish it as soon
as the weather shall moderate so the plastering can be dene,
and bring 1t inte use next session. A fine transit instrument
has been kindly lent by the government of the United States
throﬁgh Supt, Bache, Superintendent of the Coeast Survey,
which we hope to have the use of for some time to come, but
it is to e returned when called for. This instrument needed
some repairs, which were done at our.cxanoo and cest 552.40,;
including transportation, A micrometer eyepiece is still
needed in erder to secure the full usefulness of our Tele-
scope, which will cest from $25 te $30.

We refer to the statement of Prof. Morgan annexed:

'A fine clock for astromomical purposes bveing indis-
pensable for calculations in practice at the observatory and
a regulator of fine construction bveing offered second hand
at a very reduced price, it has been purchased for $125, a
price far belew the original cest, which we hope may be paid
for without embarassment of the funds of the institution.
Some o“her expense will be added feor putting in eorder etc.”

YWote froem Prof. Morgan.
"In order te furnish our observatory with apparatus
for registering the exact position of a heavenly bedy, it
will be necessary te provide a nmicremeter eyepiece for our

telescope which will cest $25 er $30. Otner apparatus at a

~
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greater cost might have been provided but this will be suf-
ficient at present. The transit and cleck are te determine
the Right Ascension and the Micrometer the declination of a
Star, Comet or other heavenly body.‘ Sufficient reasons ceould
be given in a shert time to show the prepriety of this
addition,"
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